IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORMAN PARKER,

Appellant,

vs.

ſ

ſ

ſ

1 4 , STATE OF FLORIDA,

# FILED

Appellee.

AUG 3 1983 . WHITE

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM A CONVICTION AND SENTENCE OF DEATH IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

HONORABLE FREDERICKA G. SMITH, CIRCUIT JUDGE

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENEDICT P. KUEHNE, Esquire

CASE NO. 61,512

BIERMAN, SONNETT, BEILEY, SHOHAT & SALE, P.A. Suite 500 200 S.E. First Street Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-7477

Court Appointed Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	2
(1) Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below	2
(2) Factual Recitation	4

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, NORMAN PARKER, was a Defendant in criminal proceedings pending in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority throughout those proceedings. In this brief the parties are referred to as they appeared before the trial court and by their proper names.

The Record on Appeal consists of 27 volumes of pleadings and transcripts.<sup>1</sup>/ The symbol "R" followed by a page number indicates a reference to a portion of the record containing the pleadings, orders, and other documents filed with the clerk of the lower tribunal. The symbol "T" followed by a volume and page number is a reference to a particular portion of the transcript. For example, "T11:1" refers to page one of volume 11, which begins the hearing on the defense motion to suppress statements held January 15, 1980.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{4}$  Although the index to the Record on Appeal describes all volumes as being sequentially numbered, Appellant's record is comprised of separately bound and individually numbered volumes. For ease of reference in this brief, all portions of the record are numbered by volume in the order contained in the index, found at the beginning of Volume 1 of the Record on Appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## (1) Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

The Dade County Grand Jury returned an indictment on December 15, 1978, charging NORMAN PARKER and Robbie Lee Manson with the first degree murder of Julio Cesar Chavez, four counts of robbery, involuntary sexual battery, possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (R. 1-5a). Thereafter, two superseding indictments were returned which corrected deficiencies in the charging document (R. 6-25a). The final indictment was returned on January 6, 1980 (R. 11-15a). PARKER, through court-appointed counsel, entered a plea of not guilty to the charges and prepared the case for trial.

PARKER's pre-trial motion practice included motions to dismiss (R. 69-70, 71-73a, 78-79a, 162-166a), motion for severance of counts (R. 74-75a), and motions to suppress physical evidence, confessions, and identification (R. 122-123a, 124-125a, 294-295a). Suppression of physical evidence (a firearm) was granted by the trial court (T10:159-160; T11:50).<sup>2</sup>/ The court denied the remaining suppression motions. (R. 29-33; T11:49-50).

A trial by jury began on September 9, 1981 (R. 16-17). PARKER proceeded to trial alone because the co-defendant had never been apprehended. A jury was selected on September 11,

-2-

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{2}{}$  The State of Florida appealed that ruling to the Third District Court of Appeal. The appellate court affirmed the order suppressing the firearm on the basis of an illegal search and seizure. <u>State v. Parker</u>, 399 So.2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

1981 (R. 21-22), and the presentation of the State's case commenced several days later (R. 23-24). During the trial, PARKER renewed his motion for suppression of his statements and related evidence, which was denied (R. 29-33, 294-295a). At the conclusion of the State's case, the trial judge denied the defense motion for judgments of acquittal (R. 34-37). The defense presented numerous witnesses, and PARKER testified in his own behalf (R. 34-37, 38-40). At the close of all the evidence, PARKER renewed his motion for judgments of acquittal, which was again denied (R. 38-40). After deliberations, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged (R. 38-40, 397-403).

The penalty phase was held September 21, 1983. Both the prosecution and the defense presented witnesses at this hearing (R. 42-45). The jury recommended that the trial court impose a sentence of death (R. 42-45; T24:90). Based on its findings of fact (R. 443-448), the trial court imposed the death penalty (T25:14-18). PARKER also received consecutive terms of life imprisonment on the four robbery and one sexual battery charges (R. 443-448). Imposition of sentence was suspended with respect to the possession of a firearm offense.

Post-trial motions were denied by the court (R. 434, 437-442a). PARKER was declared insolvent for purposes of appeal, and appellate counsel was duly appointed (R. 450-451, 452, 453). NORMAN PARKER is presently confined within the Florida prison system. This appeal follows.

-3-

## (2) Factual Recitation.

Julio Cesar Chavez ("Chavez") was killed on the night of July 18, 1978, during the course of a cocaine transaction that led to a drug rip-off. The State accused NORMAN PARKER and Robbie Lee Manson ("Manson") of committing that murder, and formally charged them with premeditated and felony-murder. PARKER denied all involvement in the murder or the events surrounding the murder. He contended that Manson was the person responsible for the killing. Manson was never arrested on the charges and consequently was never brought to trial. PARKER's trial, however, resulted in guilty verdicts of first-degree murder, four counts of robbery, sexual battery, and possession of a firearm during a felony. He received a sentence of death.

This case begins with the story of three friends, David Ortigoza, Luis Diaz, and Chavez, who resided in a home in northwest Miami, Dade County, Florida (T16:58-59). All three men were in their early thirties, and employed in various capacities (T16:59; T17:332-333; T18:449). As an illegal side business, the three sold quantities of cocaine in order to earn additional money (T16:60, 109; T17:336, 395). Robbie Lee Manson was a regular customer of the sales group, and had been buying small quantities of cocaine from the trio for approximately six months (T16:60; T17:336).

On July 18, 1978, Manson inquired about purchasing thirteen ounces of cocaine from Ortigoza (T16:62; T17:336). That afternoon, Ortigoza and Chavez met Manson for the purpose of exchanging a sample of cocaine (T16:62-64). Arrangements were

-4-

made to complete that transaction later that same day at a designated location, but Manson failed to appear as agreed (T16:62-63; T17:340-341). Manson finally contacted Ortigoza by telephone and apologized for his non-appearance (T16:64). Ortigoza and Manson then agreed to complete the sale at Ortigoza's home that night (T16:64; T17:341).

Shortly before Manson was expected to arrive, Silvia Arana, the girlfriend of Julio Chavez, came to the house (Tl6:64; Tl7:341; Tl8:451). The two had been having personal troubles, so they retired into Chavez' back bedroom, where they talked and watched television (Tl6:64; Tl7:341; Tl8:453). Meanwhile, Manson and his "partner", a man who was not known previously to any of the trio, $\frac{3}{}$  arrived to complete the deal (Tl6:64; Tl7:341-345). As the cocaine was produced and preliminary discussions concerning price commenced, Manson's "partner" produced a sawed off shotgun and demanded the cocaine and money (Tl6:64-71; Tl7:345). $\frac{4}{}$  Manson held a chrome plated revolver (Tl6:64-71; Tl7:345).

Manson and his partner ordered Ortigoza and Diaz to strip and lay naked on the waterbed (T16:71; T17:346). Both men were ordered to remove their jewelry, which they did (T17:346). In response to a question from either Manson or his partner, Ortigoza replied that Chavez and Silvia were in another bedroom (T16:71-76). One of the assailants then left the room to find

3/ PARKER was identified at trial as this person (T16:71).

 $\frac{4}{4}$  Both Manson and his "partner" were black males. The victims were white.

Parker

the other two (T16:71-76). Silvia and Chavez were told, at gunpoint, to exit the room. In the hallway, both Silvia and Chavez took off their clothes, and then entered the same room as the others (T18:454-455). Chavez initially asked the assailants to leave Silvia alone (T18:455). $\frac{5}{}$  The partner removed gold chains from the victims (T18:455) and ordered them to lie face down on the bed (T16:76; T17:348; T18:455-459). Manson and his accomplice exchanged guns. The partner threatened to kill the victims (T16:76), adding that he had escaped and had nothing to lose (T16:76-78; T17:350). The victims asked to be left alone and said that the assailants could take anything they wanted (T16:76-78). Manson proceeded to ransack the house while the partner stood guard (T16:78).

During one of Manson's trips back into the bedroom, the partner pointed the revolver at Chavez (T16:78-80). Manson handed a pillow to his partner, who proceeded to shoot Chavez. The victims heard only a muffled shot (T16:78-81; T17:350; T18:460). After that, no one heard Chavez make a sound (T16:78-81).<sup>6</sup>/ Manson's partner then ordered Silvia off the bed and sexually assaulted her (T16:79-81; T18:460-464), by putting his penis in her mouth (T18:464), and then penetrating her vagina with his penis and fingers (T18:467-469). Silvia noticed that

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{5}{}$  The trial testimony of Diaz and Ortigoza was that Chavez was relatively quiet throughout the episode, while Silvia stated that Chavez kept pleading to leave her (Silvia) alone (T18:459).

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{6}{100}$  The medical examiner, Dr. Charles Wetli, was of the opinion that Chavez died from a single gunshot wound to the chest, and was likely not in any pain at the time of death (T17:263, 272-273).

her assailant had "green eyes" and a fu manchu moustache (T18:467, 504).7/ During the assault, the perpetrator urinated on the bedroom rug (T17:351). Throughout this activity, neither Manson nor his partner wore gloves (T18:505).

Hearing the sound of a car engine, the partner told the victims to count to 500 before moving (T16:83; T18:469-473). The assailants then left the house (T16:83; T17:353-360; T18:474). After a short passage of time, Diaz ran to his mother's nearby home to call the police (T16:84). The phones in his house had been ripped out by the assailants (T16:84). Silvia ran to a neighbor's house to report the shooting (T18:476). Jewelry, camera equipment, and money had been taken from the premises (T16:87-88).

Officer Boyd Gans of the Metro Dade Police Department responded to the scene at eleven o'clock that night (T16:45-48). From the dispatch and his own view of the scene, Gans was of the belief that a robbery had taken place (T16:51). Photographs of the residence were taken and the house was processed for fingerprints (T16:192-200). No latent prints retrieved from the scene matched PARKER's fingerprints (T17:232). Silvia Arana refused police requests to go to the Rape Treatment Center (T17:258). She did go to the center the next day, but was accompanied by her attorney (T22:1057).

-7-

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{7}{1}$  She identified her assailant as NORMAN PARKER at trial (T18:467). Luis Diaz testified that the assailant had a goatee (T17:353).

Chavez, unconscious but alive when the police arrived, was taken by ambulance to Parkway General Hospital (T17:256). Dr. Jose Font operated on Chavez and removed a bullet from his chest (T19:585-590), handing the bullet to a homicide detective (Pontigo) (T19:605). $\frac{8}{}$  Chavez' death was hastened by the emergency first aid assistance provided at the scene (T17:271).

Meanwhile, police officers interviewed the victims to uncover additional facts about the case. Each victim stated that there had been an armed burglary by two unknown assailants (T16:88). Neither the drug transaction nor Manson's identity were revealed (T16:88-90; T17:369). Only the next day after Luis Diaz was compelled to take a polygraph test - and revealed to be lying by the polygraph operator (T18:444) - did Diaz and Ortigoza say that they had in fact been attempting to sell cocaine at the time of the rip-off and that they knew Manson's identity (T16:90-93, 179-181; T17:385-389).

Diaz, Ortigoza, and Silvia were able to identify Manson through a photographic display (T16:91-93; T17:373; T18:483-485). In August 1978, the victims were shown a picture of NORMAN PARKER which had been taken at least eleven years earlier (T16:94; T17:280-286, 373, 426). Even though the photo was so old, the victims identified the picture as Manson's coperpetrator. Ortigoza was of the view that the photograph looked exactly like PARKER did on the night of the incident (T16:171).

-8-

B/ Pontigo did not testify at trial. Although Pontigo was available (T19:731), the State decided not to use him as a witness because at the time of trial he was a defendant in a pending federal racketeering indictment (T20:783). During questioning at a defense deposition, Pontigo continually invoked his privilege against self-incrimination.

James Greenwell, a police officer in Washington, D.C., was responsible for investigating the shooting of Thomas Spriggs in D.C. (T19:613-619). On August 24, 1978, Greenwell arrested NORMAN PARKER for the Spriggs shooting (T19:619). $\frac{9}{}$  During the evidence collecting phase of that investigation, two bullets were retrieved from Spriggs' body (T19:630) and retained by Bancroft Miller as evidence (T19:636). One of these bullets was eventually obtained by Criminalist Robert Hart of the Metro Dade Police Department on January 15, 1980, for use in the Chavez murder investigation (T19:651-653, 748, 760). Hart compared the "Spriggs bullet" with a bullet believed by him to have been taken from the Chavez body, and determined that they were fired from the same firearm (T20:780). $\frac{10}{}$ 

Officer Robert Sharkey of the Washington, D.C. police force interrogated PARKER with reference to the Spriggs homicide in the early morning hours of August 24, 1978 (T19:733-734). PARKER, who had just been released from the hospital (T19:745), admitted that he shot Spriggs (T19:736). During processing and booking Sharkey took PARKER's photograph (T19:740). $\frac{11}{2}$ 

On August 28, 1978, Detectives Al Lopez and lead investigator George Pontigo of the Metro Dade Police Department

<sup>9/</sup> At the time of the arrest, PARKER was known as Shawn Vincent (T19:622). PARKER turned himself in to the police after the shooting (T19:671).

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>10</u>/ PARKER vigorously challenged the introduction of both bullets and Hart's conclusion on numerous grounds, including relevancy and chain of custody. (T19:634, 655-656, 786-810).

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{11}{}$  Officer Sharkey knew PARKER by the aliases of Vincent and Miller (T19:740).

travelled to Washington, D.C. to interview NORMAN PARKER (T17:292-293). They were introduced to PARKER by Officer Greenwell (T17:294). During the interview, Lopez noticed that PARKER was wearing a Cartier watch and gold chains similar to those taken during the Chavez murder (T17:295). PARKER, explaining that he received the property as a gift from his girlfriend, allowed the police to take custody of the jewelry (T17:323). PARKER also told the police that he had been staying in Jacksonville, Florida prior to his June arrival in Washington (T17:323).  $\frac{12}{}$  The Cartier watch and two chains were identified by Ortigoza as resembling his jewelry taken during the homicide (T16:94-97), despite the fact that they were in all respects nondescript (T16:167).

During the trial, the State was permitted to request that NORMAN PARKER stand before the jury so that the "jury may view his eyes" (T21:893). After presenting this evidence, the State rested its case (T21:894).

The defense then presented witnesses who established that NORMAN PARKER could not have been involved in the Chavez murder because he was in Washington, D.C. at the time the shooting took place. Wendell Harrington, the man who managed Harrington's Lounge in Washington, D.C. (T21:895-896), knew PARKER as a regular customer. Between April and August 1978, PARKER routinely appeared at the club (T21:898-900). Earlene

-10-

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{12}{1}$  In a pre-trial motion to suppress, PARKER challenged the admissibility of these statements and the accompanying evidence (T11:1). This motion was denied (T11:49).

Smith, an administrative assistant at the University of the District of Columbia (T21:902), also knew PARKER as being a Harrington's regular (T21:903-907). Although she could not recall specific dates, she did recollect that PARKER was seen at the club at least once every week throughout the summer of 1978 (T21:907-911).

Diane Dancy was a close friend of NORMAN PARKER until the time of his arrest (T22:912, 916). She was with PARKER almost daily during the summer months of 1978, and was certain that PARKER never left the District of Columbia during that time (T21:917). In July 1978, PARKER introduced her to Manson, who had recently come into town (T21:918-919). At that time, Manson gave PARKER a gold chain (T21:931-932).

Marilyn Walker also knew PARKER, and believed that he was in Washington on July 18, 1978, at Jan Peterson's house (T21:1004-1006). Walker spoke almost daily with Jan Peterson by telephone during the summer months, and routinely heard PARKER talking in the background (T21:1009).

Arnicia Donaldson Williams, an employee of the United States Navy in Washington, D.C., in a capacity requiring her to have "top secret" military clearance (T22:1015-1016), first met PARKER on July 16, 1978, in Washington, D.C., through Spriggs (T22:1019).

NORMAN PARKER testified in his own defense (T22:1067). He was not in Dade County during July 1978 and had no complicity in the Chavez homicide (T22:1071, 1077). He had first met Manson in early 1978; the two lived together, selling

-11-

small amounts of controlled substances (T22:1069). In April, PARKER moved to Jacksonville, Florida and then on to Washington, D.C. in May (T22:1070), where he stayed the whole summer (T22:1071). Manson, running from some sort of trouble, arrived in Washington in July or August (T22:1071-1073). Needing money, Manson gave PARKER a pouch containing a calculator, a watch, gold chains, and a pistol in exchange for cash (T22:1073). Manson left Washington after staying with PARKER for one week (T22:1073-1074). The old photograph used by the victims to identify him was taken when he was about 15 years old (T22:1077-1078). PARKER has always had brown eyes, not green ones (T22:1093).

At this point in the trial, the defense rested its case (T23:1206). The jury subsequently returned guilty verdicts on all charges (T23:1339).

During the penalty phase proceedings, the State established that PARKER was convicted of second-degree murder in the Spriggs shooting (T24:14-17). PARKER also had a prior Florida murder conviction (R. 408-411; T24:28-32).

The jury subsequently recommended imposition of the death penalty (T25:14) and the court agreed. In her sentencing order, the court found the existence of five aggravating factors, to wit: (1) PARKER was under a sentence of imprisonment; (2) PARKER was previously convicted of first-degree murder and second-degree murder; (3) PARKER committed the capital felony while engaged in armed robbery and sexual battery; (4) PARKER committed the murder for financial gain; and (5) PARKER committed the murder in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R. 443-

-12-

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Ι

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS FLORIDA AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS GUARANTEED BY THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WHERE THE COURT FAILED TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS OBTAINED BY INTERROGATING OFFICERS IN VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S INVOCATION OF HIS RIGHTS TO COUNSEL AND SILENCE AND WHERE THE STATEMENTS WERE INVOLUNTARY?

II

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL, DUE PROCESS AND A JURY CONSTITUTED FROM A FAIR CROSS SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY AS GUARANTEED BY THE FLORIDA AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS?

#### III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING THE DEFENSE REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AND PROHIBITING THE DEFENSE FROM EXERCISING A REQUESTED CHALLENGE AFTER TEN HAD BEEN USED?

IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE PROSECUTION TO INTRODUCE THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT AS TO THE WASHINGTON, D.C. SHOOTING WHEN AN INDEPENDENT CORPUS DELICTI HAD NOT BEEN ESTABLISHED? WHETHER THE CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE GUILTY VERDICTS WHERE THERE WAS A TOTAL ABSENCE OF SUBSTANTIAL, COMPETENT EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANT PARTICIPATED IN ANY OF THE CHARGED OFFENSES?

#### VI

WHETHER THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE DEFENDANT'S USE OF OTHER NAMES IMPROPERLY SUGGESTED THAT HE WAS A CRIMINAL AND CONSEQUENTLY DEPRIVED HIM OF A FAIR TRIAL?

#### VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE SEVERAL PHYSICAL ITEMS IN THE ABSENCE OF A SUFFICIENT PREDICATE FOR INTRODUCTION WHERE THERE EXISTED A SUBSTANTIAL QUESTION AS TO RELEVANCY AND AUTHENTICITY?

#### VIII

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