IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 61,512

FILED

NORMAN PARKER,

OCT 27 1983

Appellant

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

PAUL MENDELSON
Assistant Attorney General
Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building
Florida Regional Service Center
401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820)
Miami, Florida 33128
(305) 377-5441

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

Finally, the State submits that if the defendant had timely moved to suppress his statement to Detective Sharkey, and the statement was involuntary, its admission would have been harmless error. Even without the defendant's statement to Detective Sharkey, the evidence established that the defendant was arrested for the shooting of Mr. Spriggs, (T.1812), and therefore he was connected to that crime, which connected him to the fatal bullet in this case. Moreover, there was other overwhelming evidence of guilty,

in the form of three eyewitness identifications, (T.1263-1277, 1288, 1537-1546, 1566, 1567, 1645-1662, 1677, 1678), and the defendant's wearing of jewelry taken in the robbery. (T.1291). Accordingly, if there was error in the admission of defendant's statement to Detective Sharkey, and said error was preserved for review, it was harmless, especially since the statement in question was not a confession, but rather circumstantial evidence, which the defendant had an innocent explanation for. (T.2265). Odom v. State, 403 So.2d 936 (Fla. 1981); Barfield v. State, 402 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1981).

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO QUASH THE JURY PANEL.

Prior to trial the defendant filed a motion to quash the jury panel on the ground that Section 40.013(4) Fla.

Stat. (1981), which allowed mothers, who are not employed with children under 15 years of age, to be excused from jury service, if they so request, denies him his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a jury drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. (R.172-179). After a hearing on January 10 and 11, 1980, the court denied the motion.

(R.179A). Since the transcripts of these hearings are not before this Court, it cannot consider the propriety of the trial court's ruling. McMann v. State, 55 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1951).

In any event, it is highly unlikely that anything that occurred at these hearings could have supported the defendant's motion to quash the jury panel. As this Court held in McArthur v. State, 351 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1977), the exclusion of mothers of young children does not deprive a defendant of his constitutional right to a jury drawn from a fair cross section of the community, since the excluded group is not sufficiently distinctive. This holding, which was reiterated in Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741 (Fla. 1982)

and <u>Vasil v. State</u>, 374 (Fla. 1979), should dispose of this issue. <u>See also Scott v. State</u>, 411 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1982); and <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 237 (Fla. 1980).

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AND HIS REQUEST THAT TWO PROSPECTIVE JURORS BE EXCUSED FOR CAUSE. 10

In accordance with Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.350(a) and Section 913.08(1)(a) Fla.Stat. (1981), the defendant was given ten peremptory challenges. Although the defendant was charged with several crimes, he was not entitled to additional peremptory challenges. Fitzpatrick v. State, __So.2d__ (Fla. 1983)(Case No. 60,097, opinion filed July 21, 1983); Johnson v. State, 222 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1969). His argument, as is Fitzpatrick, is premised on the assumption that he was forced to use peremptory challenges on jurors who should have been excused for cause. This assumption is unfounded.

The defendant contends that jurors Purnell and Kaufman should have been excused for cause. While the defendant is wrong on the merits of his claim, it should first be noted that the question of whether juror Purnell should have been excused for cause has not been preserved for review.

When defense counsel moved to excuse juror Purnell for

¹⁰Both prospective jurors, whom the defendant contends should have been excused for cause, were peremptorily excused. (T.877), 992).

cause, the court announced that it would reserve ruling. (S.T.75, 76). Not only did defense counsel not insist that the court make a ruling, he affirmatively stated on two occasions that Mr. Purnell's subsequent responses to his questions demonstrated that he would be a fair juror. first time was when Mr. Purnell stated that he would consider a police officer's testimony and judge his credibility like he would any other witness, and defense counsel replied, "Okey. That's good enough for me." (T.820). Later, when Mr. Purnell stated that he could decide the case on the evidence and put his experience aside, because he served as a gatherer of evidence and not a judger while a state attorney investigator, defense counsel replied "That's exactly what I want." (T.851). Subsequently, when the court asked if there was a challenge to Mr. Purnell for cause, defense counsel said that he would accept him at this time. (T.875). Based upon these statements, and defense counsel's failure to request a ruling on his request to excuse Mr. Purnell for cause, the trial court could reasonably conclude that the objection to the juror had been abandoned, and the issue is accordingly not properly before this Court. Ortiz v. State, 30 Fla. 256, 11 So. 611 (1892); Hair v. State, 428 So.2d 760 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

In any event, as previously noted, the court's failure to excuse jurors Purnell and Kaufman was not error since the defendant is unable to sustain his heavy burden of showing a manifest abuse of discretion. <u>Christopher v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1981); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1980).

The defendant contends that Mr. Purnell should have been excused for cause because he worked as an investigator for 20 years ending in 1978 for the State Attorney's Office, knows the prosecutor, and knows of the police officers involved in the investigation of the defendant. Since nothing in Mr. Purnell's backgrounds makes him challengeable for cause under Section 913.03 Fla. Stat. (1981), the trial court properly refused to excuse him for cause since Mr. Purnell's statements during voir dire demonstrate that he would be a fair juror and would follow the court's instructions. Morgan v. State, 415 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1982); McCollum v. State, 74 So.2d 74 (Fla. 1954); Brown v. State, 135 Fla. 191, 184 So. 777 (1938); Peri v. State, 412 So.2d 367 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); Skipper v. State, 400 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), reversed on other grounds, 420 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1982); Wheeler v. State, 362 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); McQuay v. State, 352 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Hunt v. State, 330 So.2d 502 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

When Mr. Purnell's employment as an investigator for the State Attorney's Office and his knowledge of the

prosecutor were first brought out, he immediately stated his belief that his ability to be a fair and impartial juror would not be influenced. (S.T.12). He later stated he could not recall ever speaking to the prosecutor or working (S.T.98). Again he stated that he would not be influenced by his past employment, and would follow the court's instructions. (S.T.98). Mr. Purnell later stated that while he knows of the police officers who investigated the defendant, he never worked with them. (T.814, 815). Any doubt as to Mr. Purnell's ability to be a good juror was removed, at least in defense counsel's eyes, when he stated that he would consider a police officer's testimony and judge his credibility as he would any other witness, (T.820), and would put his experience aside and base his verdict solely on the evidence. The State submits that when Mr. Purnell's statements on the whole during voir dire are analyzed in accordance with the aforecited cases, the refusal to excuse him for cause was clearly a proper exercise of the court's discretion.

The propriety of the court's refusal to excuse Ms.

Kaufman for cause is even less arguable. With regard to the recent burglary of her house, Ms. Kaufman stated her belief that she could set the experience aside and render a decision based solely on the evidence. (S.T.58, 59). While she admitted that she was frightened by community violence,

and didn't know if she could put it out of her mind, (T.854, 855), Ms. Kaufman never indicated that she had a state of mind which would prevent her from acting with impartiality. However, even if Ms. Kaufman had given such an indication, her repeated statements that she would follow the court's instructions and render an impartial verdict according to the evidence, (S.T.59; T.831, 834, 835), made her a proper juror. Ashley v. State, 370 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979; Section 913.03(10) Fla.Stat. (1981) Cf. Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959); Hall v. State, 136 Fla. 644, 187 So. 392 (1939); Jeffcoat v. State, 103 Fla. 466, 138 So. 385 (1931); Blackwell v. State, 101 Fla. 997, 132 So. 468 (1931); Skipper v. State, supra.

The trial court was concerned with Ms. Kaufman's statement that "--anybody who kills anybody should deserve the same—." (T.853, 854). The court therefore asked Ms. Kaufman if she would automatically vote for death if the defendant was found guilty of first degree murder, or would she base her recommendation on the evidence and the court's instructions. (T.869). When Ms. Kaufman responded that she would weigh the evidence before making a recommendation, the court was satisfied that she could be a proper juror. (T.869, 876). The court's decision in this regard was clearly not an abuse of discretion. Fitzpatrick v. State, supra.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT AS TO A WASHINGTON, D.C. SHOOTING EVEN IF THE CORPUS DELECTI HAD NOT BEEN ESTABLISHED.

In arguing that the corpus delecti of the Washington shooting was not established, the defendant brushes over the fact that he was not on trial for that shooting. He therefore does not discuss the question of whether the corpus delecti to a crime not charged must be established before a confession to that crime can be admitted. The State submits that an analysis of the corpus delecti rule indicates that it is inapplicable when a collateral crime is involved.

The corpus delecti rule requires that all the elements of the crime charged be proven before a defendant can be convicted based on his confession to the crime charged.

State v. Allen, 335 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1976); Jefferson v.

Sweat, 76 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1954), Ruiz v. State, 388 So.2d 610 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). The purpose of this rule is to prevent a conviction based soley on a misguided confession to a crime which did not in fact occur. State v. Allen, supra; Ruiz v. State, supra. This purpose would not be served by requiring proof of the corpus delecti of the Washington shooting, which is relevant to this case because of the bullet involved, regardless of whether criminal

agency was involved. Since there is no valid reason for requiring proof of the corpus delecti as a condition to the admission of a relevant confession or statement regarding a colateral crime; and such a requirement would have a detrimental effect of making the collateral crime a feature of the trial, 11 the defendant's assumption that the rule is applicable in this case should be expressly rejected.

At any rate, even if it could be said that the corpus delecti rule is applicable to confessions to collateral crimes, the defendant cannot contend that his statement regarding the Washington shooting was improperly admitted. Whenever the Washington shooting was discussed, defense counsel consistently maintained that the jury should only be told that the defendant shot Thomas Spriggs, and no mention should be made as to any other facts regarding the incident, so it would not become a feature of the trial. 1201, 1548, 1549, 1729, 1730, 1732-1735, 1771, 1818, 1819, 1907-1909). Having convinced the trial court that the question of whether criminal agency was involved in the Washington shooting is irrelevant, the defendant cannot now complain that the court erred in not requiring evidence of criminal agency. McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1980).

¹¹ See Williams v. State, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960).

In accordance with defense counsel's requests, the jury was only informed that the defendant shot Thomas Spriggs, and was not told if the shooting was criminal. Therefore, if the corpus delecti was required before the defendant's statement in this regard could be admitted, it could be established by testimony that Thomas Spriggs was shot. Such testimony was admitted. (T.1823).

In sum, the State submits that the defendant's statement regarding a shooting in Washington was properly admitted, without a requirement that the corpus delecti he established; and that in any event, the corpus delecti of the shooting, as developed at trial, was admitted. If this Court should disagree and concluded that the statement was improperly admitted, the State would argue, as it did under Point I, that the evidence of guilt, independent of the statement was so overwhelming that any error in the admission of the statement could only have been harmless.

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE CONVICTIONS.

The defendant was convicted of one count of first degree murder, four counts of armed robbery, one count of sexual battery with a firearm, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. (R.428-431). These convictions were supported, <u>inter alia</u>, by the testimony of three eyewitnesses, who testified that he committed these crimes. (T.1263-1277, 1537-1546, 1645-1662). The defendant cannot attack his convictions on the asserted basis that these witnesses were not credible. <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). 12

¹²This argument should not be taken as a concession that there is a serious question as to the credibility of the eyewitnesses. To the contrary, a review of their testimony demonstrates that they were positive that the defendant perpetrated the crimes, were consistent in all significant respects, and had no reason to falsely accuse the defendant. It should also be noted that the defendant's alibi was not corroborated by anyone. (T.2093, 2103, 2119, 2178, 2200, 2217).

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ALLOWED TESTIMONY THAT THE DEFENDANT USED OTHER NAMES WHILE IN WASHINGTON.

The defendant contends that he was prejudiced when the jury was informed that he used different names while in Washington. The State initially submits that this argument has not been preserved for review.

The first time in which the jury was told that the defendant was known by another name while in Washington was during the opening argument of defense counsel, who informed them that defense witnesses, who knew the defendant as Shawn Vincent, would testify that he was in Washington throughout the summer of 1978. (T.1226). The second time was when Officer Greenwell testified, without objection that when he first met the defendant he was using the name Shawn Vincent. The third time was when Officer Sharkey testified, again without objection, that when he initially spoke to the defendant he gave his name as Shawn Vincent and Johnny Miller. (T.1927). Defense counsel finally objected to testimony about the defendant being known in Washington as Shawn Vincent and Miller, when Officer Sharkey identified his picture taken upon his arrest. (T.1932, 1933). court ruled the objection was untimely because it had not been raised previously. (T.1933, 1934). The State submits

that the trial court's was correct, and the argument raised on appeal, has not been preserved for review <u>Simpson v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 418 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1982); <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

At any rate, the testimony in question would have been properly admitted even if a contemporaneous objection had been made. In this case, identity was the crucial issue, and the defendant's activities in Washington were used on both sides of the issue. Since the Washington witnesses could only testify to their knowledge of the defendant by revealing that he used other names, such testimony was relevant and admissible. 13 Lamb v. State, 354 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

Moreover, since the evidence of guilt was overwhelming, the term alias was not used in this case, and the fact that defendant used another name was essential to his case, and therefore elicited from defense witnesses, (T2089-2091, 2096, 2098, 2105-2107, 2175, 2176, 2211, 2212), any error which allegedly occurred could only have been harmless Rodriguez v. State, 413 So.2d 1303 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

¹³ Lee v. State, 410 So.2d 182 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), which is heavily relied on by the defendant, is easily distinguishable. In Lee the six aliases read off an FBI rap sheet were irrelevant to the case, and since the jury was told that the other names were actually aliases the testimony was much more prejudicial. Additionally, the evidence in this case, unlike Lee, was not "largely circumstantial".

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE A BULLET RECOVERED FROM THE DECEASED'S BODY.

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